## The Impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic on B2B Social Media Content Tactics

A qualitative study examining how the Covid-19 Pandemic influenced B2B Social Media Tactics on LinkedIn

Margarita D. Encheva – s2069954

Bachelor Thesis in Communication Science (BSc)

Faculty of Behavioral, Management and Social Science (BMS)

Supervisor: Dr. Hanneke Scholten

University of Twente

July 1<sup>st</sup>, 2022

#### Abstract

**Objective:** Social media marketing has gained greater importance among B2B organizations during the Covid-19 pandemic. Existing literature on the topic points into the direction that social media content of organizations was influenced by the Covid-19 pandemic. While social media communication is beneficial for B2B organizations the scope of literature examining how the Covid-19 pandemic influenced the content tactics of B2B companies is scarce.

Method: To achieve the main objective of this study, a qualitative content analysis was performed based on a corpus consisting of 100 social media posts gathered from five B2B organizations. To discover how the Covid-19 pandemic influenced social media content tactics, 50 posts from before and 50 during the pandemic were coded and interpreted. Then, a comparison of both time periods was made, to uncover how B2B social media content tactics changed during the Covid-19 pandemic. Results: The following B2B social media content tactics changed during the Covid-19 pandemic: sharing information regarding the future of the company and work industry, giving advice to the online public, and the implemented hashtags. More specifically, it was found that B2B organizations incorporated the topic of the pandemic within the tactics. Next to that, the findings show that the Covid-19 pandemic did have an influence on the main objective communicated by B2B organizations regarding the dissemination of positive and emotional content. Concretely, B2B organizations incorporated tactics related to this objective more frequently during the Covid-19 pandemic compared to before. **Conclusion:** Previous research examining how social media content tactics have changed is scarce. Based on expectations formulated from existing literature, the findings of study were able to give an answer to the main research question. Further, it provides a foundation for future research opportunities regarding the topic.

**Limitations and recommendations:** This study contributes to literature since it is one of the first to explore B2B social media content tactics during the Covid-19 pandemic. Nonetheless, this study was limited to analyze B2B social media posts not taking into consideration the user engagement of the post. Therefore, for future research it is recommended to apply a combination of quantitative and qualitative methods analyzing both the content tactics and the engagement of the post in which they were used. **Keywords:** B2B organizations, social media, content tactic, Covid-19 pandemic, marketing, crisis

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	5
Theoretical background	7
2.1 Difference in B2B and B2C social media marketing	8
2.2 Effects of social media use	9
Customer relationship and satisfaction	9
Credibility	10
Brand awareness	10
2.3 Activity on LinkedIn	11
2.4 Social media content objectives and tactics	12
2.5 The Covid-19 Factor	13
2.6 Research expectations	15
Method	16
3.1 Design	16
Procedure	17
Corpus	18
3.2 Data analysis	18
Coding scheme	19
Results	22
4.1 Before the Covid-19 Pandemic	22
Interest	22
Knowledge and Trust	23
Liking	25
Brand Awareness	26
4.2 During the Covid-19 Pandemic	28
Interest	28
Knowledge and Trust	28
Liking	30
Brand awareness	32
4.3 Summary of Results	33
Discussion	34
5.1 Main findings	36

5.2 Strengths, limitations and future research	.37
Conclusion	.39
References:	
Appendix A	
Appendix B	
Appendix b	. 32

#### Introduction

In the last few decades, the Internet has changed the traditional ways of communication by developing new channels and platforms through which individuals can interact among each other (Ismagilova et al. 2017). According to Kunsman (2018, as cited in Dwivedi et al., 2021), social media had a big impact on the technical adaption of businesses regarding the process of digitalization. In general, social media is defined as an interactive communication tool that is used to create and share opinions, knowledge, information, and any other forms of expressions and feelings through social networking platforms and sites (Obar & Wildman, 2015). Further research on the topic explains that previously, social media was used simply to share general information about the brand. However, in the recent years, organizations implement social media within their marketing strategies with the aim to get more involvement and insights from the consumer (Alalwan et al. 2017).

Moreover, research on the topic of business-to-business (B2B) marketing points in the direction that social media tools are becoming an appealing way to communicate and interact in this sector (Huotari et al., 2015). To be specific, B2B or business-to-business are organizations or brands that provide products and services relevant only to other organizations, hence they have no contact with the end-user (Lucking-Reiley & Spulber, n.d. as cited in Asipi & Duraković, 2020). According to survey, 82% of the B2B clients pay great attention to social media content when making a purchase (Ancillai et al. 2019). In addition, according to Pulizzi and Handley, (2016, as cited in Vasudevan et al., 2018) 83% of all B2B marketing specialists share content on at least one of the four most popular social media platforms in this case LinkedIn, Facebook, Twitter and YouTube. According to Huotari et al. (2015) the type of content B2B brands share most often is rich on information, since the messages are generally aimed at industry professionals. Furthermore, a study by Juntunen et al. 2020 explains that social media posts are aimed to fulfill a certain marketing goal or objective. Moreover, they provide information regarding the

means in which a certain objective is accomplished. The study of Juntunen et al. (2020) refers to those means as content tactics and in this research paper they will be addressed as tactics as well.

In general, it has been reported that social media marketing provides many benefits to the organization in the case that it was successfully implemented. According to Andersson and Wikström (2017), companies in the B2B context have been adopting social media strategies in order to enhance customer engagement, support sales, boost brand awareness, and share information. Furthermore, by engaging in social media B2B companies can better understand customers' needs, inform and share knowledge, and build strong relationships and trust (Altshuler & Tarnovskaya, 2010).

Currently, there are many practical sources such as company reports (Edelman, 2020; Bages-Amat et al., 2021) which show that there has been a shift in the working processes of B2B organizations during the Covid-19 Pandemic. Moreover, according to Moorman (2020) organizations have experienced a rise in the significance of digital experiences from the consumers' side. Further research into the topic shows that, the Covid-19 Pandemic has influenced the clients' purchase-decisions as well as their purchase behaviors (Mason, 2020). As an example, the introduction of many restrictions concerned with the limitation of personal contact and other similar policies is a factor that has influenced the purchase-decisions. According to Mason (2020), byers were more conscious in the decision-making process and they required significantly more information about a product before making a purchase. Hence, the social distancing rules and policies have led to increase the importance of social media as a marketing tool to communicate in the B2B world (Mason, 2021).

While there is existing research analyzing how the Covid-19 pandemic influenced the social media content of business-to-consumer (B2C) organizations, none of the sources were concerned with the shift of B2B social media content tactics. Studies have shown that marketing specialists in the B2B sphere have adopted social media networking platforms as a part of their marketing strategy during the time of the Covid-19 pandemic (Rangarajan et al. 2021). A study by Azer et al. (2021) on the topic of

social media content during the Covid-19 pandemic shows that it is beneficial for organizations to share news about the crisis that are relevant to the public and primarily focuses on positive feelings, and emotions. Therefore, it is expected that B2B organizations will incorporate content that is more personal with the aim to induce feelings of hope and calmness. Furthermore, since prospective clients need more information regarding a product in the decision-making process, it is anticipated that B2B organizations will share product-related information during the Covid-19 pandemic. Hence, the research question was formulated as it follows: "How has the Covid-19 pandemic influenced social media content tactics on LinkedIn of B2B organizations?"

The study offers a general overview of B2B social media marketing processes and the use of LinkedIn for B2B social media communication. Furthermore, the most common B2B social media content objectives and tactics were identified and the Covid-19 factor was introduced. The empirical examination is based on a corpus consisting B2B social media posts that were collected before and during the Covid-19 pandemic. Then, the paper discussed the findings of the performed analysis, sheds light on the contributions and limitations, and gives suggestions for future research opportunities. By analyzing the existing B2B social media content and identifying changes in the content tactics of B2B organizations that occurred during the Covid-19 pandemic, this study aims to contribute to B2B social media marketing practices during a critical time.

## Theoretical background

This section of the research paper aims to provide important background knowledge into the topic of B2B social media marketing. Moreover, the first sub-section is concerned with explaining the difference among B2B and B2C business models and how they implement social media marketing. Furthermore, an overview of the effects of social media adoption in B2B organizations was given. Additionally, LinkedIn was recognized as one of the most popular social media platforms among B2B companies. Next to that,

the B2B content objectives and their respective tactics were specified and the following sub-question was introduced:" What content tactics B2B brands implemented before the Covid-19 pandemic?". By adding this sub-question, the researcher was able to make detailed and valuable conclusions related to the answering of the main research question. Last but not least, the Covid-19 factor was introduces and information regarding the change in social media content during the Covid-19 pandemic was provided.

## 2.1 Difference in B2B and B2C social media marketing

Before the differences in B2B and B2C social media marketing are discussed it is important to provide definitions and more information on both business models. The distinction between both business models is important. The existing literature that identifies a difference in B2B and B2C social media marketing shows that the discrepancy is based on the ways in which both models operate (Salo, 2017). To be more specific, the business-to-business (B2B) model is defined as the transfer of products and services across organizations without having a direct contact to the consumer. To further elaborate, B2B business models are generally appropriate for big organizations that sell their products to other businesses and governmental entities such as distributors, financial institutions and suppliers. On the other hand, the business-to-consumer (B2C) model is focused on businesses selling the end-product directly to the consumer.

However, when it comes to B2B and B2C social media marketing practices, a very limited amount of sources explored how and why they differ from each other. The research paper, from Moore et al. (2013), shows that B2B and B2C organizations differ in terms of their social media platform preferences. Most commonly, B2B companies choose more professional social media platforms such as LinkedIn, whereas B2C brands focus their communication on mass-consumption social media networks such as Facebook. Additionally, they recognize that B2B companies strive to build stronger personal relationship with customers during the selling process compared to B2C organizations (Moore et al., 2013). Next to that, research on the topic provides evidence that B2B and B2C social media content

differs (Swani et al.2014). In the same study Swani et al. (2014) specify that B2B organizations focus on content that is informative and include more website links for product information within their social media posts. Furthermore, B2B organizations use social media marketing to enhance their SEO (Search Engine Optimization) by transferring traffic to the website, which results in stronger customer relationships and engagement (Swani et al., 2014; Itani et al., 2017).

#### 2.2 Effects of social media use

There are existing studies examining the effects of social media proven to be important for the performance and success of B2B organizations. Furthermore, these factors summed up to be the following: customer relationship and satisfaction, credibility, and brand awareness. The following part of the study provides more detailed information regarding the different effects of social media usage in B2B organizations.

## Customer relationship and satisfaction

Social media networks are an effective tool for communication between business and user, or other specialists and distributors in the working industry (Salo, 2017; Huotari et al., 2015; Nunan et al., 2018). By communicating with relevant users through social media, B2B organizations are able to strengthen their personal relationship with their customers (Hollebeek, 2017). In-depth research on the topic, found that social media positively affects the communication of product information, knowledge, and versatility which further affects the efficiency of the customer relationship (Ogilvie et al., 2018). Additional research on the topic suggests that, the establishment of stronger customer relations can be accomplished by raising brand awareness (Cawsey & Rowley, 2016).

A study by Agnihotri et al. (2016) concentrated on finding whether and how the adoption of social media by a salesperson will affect customer satisfaction in B2B organizations. Thereby, the results

from the research show that the implementation of social media has a positive effect on information communication which further facilitates higher customer satisfaction rates.

## Credibility

Furthermore, Holliman and Rowley (2014) are the first to explore the use of digital content marketing as a toll to build an established position among other B2B organizations. Therefore, recently Barry and Gironda (2017) came up with a framework for thought leadership in B2B organizations. They define thought leadership to be both a capability and an outcome, which translates into trusted authority recognition. Thus, the thought leadership strategy is best to put an emphasis on the role of social media in building trust and relationships (Nunan et al., 2018). Furthermore, a study by Kho (2008) emphasizes on the benefits that social media integration can have on strengthening the brand's credibility. In addition, Kho (2008) explains how this positive effect was achieved due to the fact that social media enables brands and organizations to provide more details regarding their products and services.

#### **Brand awareness**

Many B2B organizations have increasingly raised their awareness in regard to the importance of brand building. In their research, Bendixen et al. (2004) found that a good brand reputation assures the customer of the products' quality thus making them willing to pay a higher price. More specifically, a high number of global technology markets have realized that establishing a brand name is the first step towards gaining the customers' trust (Kotler & Pfoertsch, 2006). Furthermore, Hsiao et al. (2020) found that by incorporating a famous brand name in a company social media post it is perceived to have more engagement thus raising brand awareness and customers' interest in the organization.

#### 2.3 Activity on LinkedIn

As there is growing interest in social media marketing from B2B organizations, researchers have highlighted the importance of social networking through some specific platforms. A leading social media channel across many available networking platforms is LinkedIn. In addition, LinkedIn is reported to be the most well-known and valued social media channel for B2B marketing professionals (Jackson, 2018; Siamagka et al., 2015). According to a study by LeadFormix, (as cited in Bodnar & Cohen, 2011) LinkedIn has helped B2B organizations gain more prospective customers almost three times the amount compared to Twitter. Furthermore, Bodnar and Cohen (2011) mention that 61% of the B2B organizations that use LinkedIn have reported that they acquired a customer thanks to the platform. They conclude that this is the highest percentage of customer acquisition facilitated by a social media channel. Therefore, LinkedIn can be used as a tool to gain more customers while engaging in social media marketing activities.

Further research on the topic shows that LinkedIn is beneficial for different types of social interactions and for creating a feeling of connectedness, while offering a big variety of functions to generate customer engagement (Agnihotri, 2020). Moreover, according to Diba et al. (2019) B2B managers connect via LinkedIn and create a relationship with each other, reach out to other brands within the same industry in order to learn from one another, share content and hence grow together. Additionally, it is important to explain what is depicted by content and namely that there are different types of digital material such as written text, visual design in the form of an image or video uploaded, and voice recordings which are uploaded on social media (Juntunen et al., 2020). According to Agnihotri (2020) social media content should be examined from a knowledge-based perspective in order to incorporate social media marketing into the overall strategic framework of marketing and sales in the B2B context.

#### 2.4 Social media content objectives and tactics

In their research, Juntunen et al. (2020) provide a systematic summary of all existing strategies and tactics in the literature concerning B2B organizations and social media marketing. Furthermore, they elaborate on the types of content that B2B brands implement in their social media communication in order to fulfill the predefined content objectives. The following four content objectives – *awareness* (Andersson & Wikström, 2017), *knowledge* (Lavidge & Steiner, 1961) *and trust* (Holliman & Rowley, 2014), *interest, and liking* (Lavidge & Steiner, 1961) follow different strategies and thus are executed in a specific way content wise. According to the authors the content B2B organizations upload on social media is depicted as content tactics and they aim at fulfilling the content objectives.

Firstly, according to Juntunen et al. (2020) for the objective *awareness* there have been identified two strategies. Corporate strategy is mainly applied with the aim to communicate the brand in the online environment of social media channels. The type of content B2B brands communicate most frequently is brand, company, product name or logo. On the other hand, according to Bolat et al. (2016) the Generic strategy is mainly used to promote new products and services. Thus, the type of content shared on social media is concerned with showing the product in action (Hanssens & Weitz, 1980), sharing news and/or information, making association with a typical person, lifestyle, or situation, and adding brand descriptions (Cutler & Javalgi, 1994).

Secondly, for the objective *knowledge and trust* there has been identified one content strategy called a pre-emptive strategy that refers to sharing information or ideas (Glover et al., 1989).

Furthermore, Glover et al. (1989) do not define a specific strategy however Juntunen et al. 2020 follow the dictionary definition that entails it is an act of giving one the opportunity to get information before it is offered to others. The type of content that depicts the *knowledge and trust* objective is related to information about events, the emerging trends in the industry (Leek et al., 2016), and the company's developments (Bolat et al., 2016).

Thirdly, the objective *interest* most frequently entails information search (Wijaya, 2015) since an individual's interest usually refers to their orientation in regard to a subject, topic, object or any kind of knowledge area and their eagerness to find out more about it (Schiefele, 1991, as cited in Juntunen et al., 2020). In terms of content, *interest* can be conveyed through support and inspiration or by sharing that more information on the topic is available. Furthermore, B2B organizations use tactics such as implementing a phone number (Lohtia et al., 1995, as cited in Juntunen et al., 2020), internet address (Turley & Kelley, 1997), and hashtag (#) (Swani et al., 2014).

Last but not least, the objective *liking* was introduced by Lavidge and Steiner 1961, and its' aim is to promote positive feelings and attitude toward the organizations' products and/or services.

Moreover, the brand image strategy relies on making the brand distinctive by communicating with the audience with the purpose to induce emotions (Glover et al., 1989). The aim of this strategy is for organizations to create a favorable impression among users. Thereby, brands incorporate tactics that include an emotional aspect such as storytelling (Cutler & Javalgi, 1994).

In order to provide a logically structured and in-depth answer to the research question the following sub-question was introduced in this section: "What content tactics B2B brands implemented before the Covid-19 pandemic?". By answering this sub-question it will facilitate a better distinction between the B2B content tactics implemented before the Covid-19 pandemic and the tactics used during the pandemic.

## 2.5 The Covid-19 Factor

In the last two years, the Covid-19 pandemic has immensely impacted society and the world in general. The beginning of the pandemic was officially announced by The World Health Organization (WHO) on March 11, 2020. Furthermore, the majority of the countries that were affected from the pandemic have incorporated a variety of measures such as lockdowns, travel restrictions, and

quarantine to prevent and stop the spreading of the virus (Fernandes, 2020, as cited in Kwok et al., 2021). During a time of crisis, uncertainty is the main feeling depicted among the general public (Mitroff, 2004). Hence, in crisis communication it is often expected for social media users to seek more information (Fraustino et al., 2012, as cited in Azer et al., 2021). Research on the topic of social media content during the Covid-19 pandemic suggests that in times of uncertainty organizations focus on engaging their audience by delivering messages that are important and helpful (De Valck, 2020).

Additionally, Mason (2021) performed an analysis on the importance of social media marketing during the Covid-19 pandemic. In the study it was concluded that activity on social media can benefit organizations in terms of brand exposure and decision-making processes of the consumer. In their research paper, Azer et al. (2021) found that user engagement on social media during the Covid-19 pandemic was highly perceived among posts spreading information regarding the size and impact of the crisis. Moreover, Azer et al. (2021) examine the types of social media content that inspire different feelings and behavior among users during a crisis such as the Covid-19 pandemic. They conclude that organizations should focus on communicating messages that help spread positive and calming feelings as hope to enhance brand image and credibility (Azer et al., 2021).

Supplementary research analyzes the specific content brands have shared in the first days of the Covid-19 pandemic (Tosun, 2022). The paper suggests that organizations should create content that is important and relevant for clients, and helps to establish them as a brand. The findings from the research show that there were four emerging themes: posts with the aim of brand and/ or product promotion, Covid-19 related messages, and posts regarding celebrating special days and occasions (Tosun, 2022).

Furthermore, research conducted by Kwok et al. 2021 on the topic of social media messages during the Covid-19 pandemic shows that organizations have actively communicated with relevant stakeholders by implementing more information regarding the pandemic. More specifically, a research

based on companies in the hospitality sector shows that their Covid-19 related messages include positive and praising information about the organizations' past activities and actions. Additionally, the organizations share news about the effect of the Covid-19 pandemic on their working processes (Kwok et al. 2021).

## 2.6 Research expectations

A couple of studies point into the direction, that the approaches of B2B and B2C organizations in terms of social media implementation are different (Moore et al., 2013; Swani et al., 2014; Itani et al., 2017). The dissimilarity in social media implementation among both business models is identified in terms of the objectives of the organization (Itani et al., 2017), the chosen social networking platforms (Moore et al., 2013), and the style and feel of the message (Swani et al., 2014). Nonetheless, social media marketing has gained more popularity among B2B organizations in the last few years. It provides a variety of benefits in terms of building stronger relationships with customers (Ogilvie et al. 2018) and helps to enhance credibility (Kho, 2008), thus making the organizations' perceived trustworthiness higher (Nunan et al., 2018). Furthermore, B2B organizations use social media platforms with the aim to spread relevant information, build brand awareness, and to be perceived as favorable. Therefore, to fulfill these content objectives B2B companies incorporate their corresponding content tactics (Juntunen et al.).

However, with the emergence of the Covid-19 pandemic, many companies had to reorganize their working process and policies in order to adapt to the ongoing situation. In their paper Rangarajan et al. (2021) found that during the time of the pandemic consumers were more focused on researching organizations and their products online, which resulted in more social media interactions. Additionally, Mason (2021) performs a research of the importance of social media marketing during the Covid-19 pandemic. In the analysis it was concluded that activity on social media can benefit organizations in terms of helping the consumer during the decision-making processes.

Nevertheless, a very limited number of sources was identified, more distinctively, research examining how the Covid-19 has influenced the use of social media content tactics. Scholars have provided evidence that Covid-19 related topics have been included in the social media content of organizations (Kwok et al., 2021; Tosun, 2022; Azer et al., 2021). Hence, it is expected that the Covid-19 pandemic will influence B2B content tactics in terms of incorporating messages related to the crisis. Additionally, Azer et al., (2021) conclude that during critical times it is important for companies to communicate messages that provoke positive emotions to enhance the image and credibility of the brand. Therefore, it is anticipated that during the Covid-19 pandemic B2B content tactics will focus predominantly on communicating messages that lead to pleasant emotions among the online public. Furthermore, it is expected for organizations to share messages related to product information (Tosun, 2022). Consequently, it will be beneficial to analyze the available B2B social media content and make conclusions regarding the above described assumptions and expectations towards answering the main research question.

#### Method

#### 3.1 Design

Due to the fact that the purpose of this research paper was concerned with analyzing how social media content has changed from before and during the time period of the pandemic, content analysis of a specific sample of social media posts was performed.

Content analysis is explained to be one of the most used methods in communication research.

According to Cole, (1988 as cited in Elo & Kyngas, 2007) content analysis is a method most suitable for analyzing written, verbal or visual communication messages. Furthermore, this method facilitates a way to perform research in a systematic and objective manner. Content analysis is implemented in most cases as a research method with the purpose of providing knowledge, depiction of fact, and new insights (Krippendorff, 1980, as cited in Elo & Kyngas, 2007). Moreover, this qualitative approach for analyzing

data provides opportunity to identify valuable insights on how the Covid-19 pandemic has affected the type of content and way of communication with users on social media in the B2B context. By the implementation of content analysis as a method for this research new trends might be recognized in the interaction of B2B organizations with their social media audience.

#### **Procedure**

The organizations, whose social media posts were selected for this study, were chosen by the researcher through entering the specific search term in the LinkedIn search bar – "b2b organizations". Furthermore, practical blogs were analyzed providing broader variety of companies working in the B2B sector. Moreover, the websites of the organizations were researched in order to find more information regarding the company's products and/or services. The criterion for the selection of the brands was focused on the requirement to be active on LinkedIn before and during the Covid-19 Pandemic in order to provide a broad selection of social media post types. Moreover, taking into account the fact that some existing B2B brands provide services directly to the end-user rather than selling them to other businesses, it was important to select specifically B2B organizations that market their services and/or products to other businesses. The purpose was to identify the content of B2B organizations and to eliminate the possible bias of selecting any organization's posts that is in the B2C sector while constructing the corpus. Hence, five B2B organizations were chosen to be the sources of data, while being predominantly focused in the business development industry. Most of the representative companies were in the software as a service (SaaS) or informational technology sector, providing solutions for website performance, specific business software, and marketing. In order to compile the corpus the researcher went through the posts of each of the selected companies and randomly selected the units of analysis. Afterwards, the randomly selected posts for both timeframes were transferred to five separate Word documents for each of the five relative organizations.

However, before the data was transferred to the analytical software Atlas.ti all information, related to the company and other relevant organizations, has been anonymized. This ensured that the study was compliant to any ethical considerations regarding the availability of the selected data.

Moreover, the organization's name was replaced with the phrase "company name" and any other companies that were mentioned in the text with "other company name". In addition, any people that were mentioned or tagged in the analyzed posts were changed to "tagged user".

#### Corpus

The corpus on which the content analysis was based consisted of data found on the social media platform LinkedIn. Moreover, the corpus was construed by 100 social media posts which were in written form. Any specific visual communication, that is depicted to be important for the research, was taken into consideration at the analyzing stage.

Additionally, since the focus of the study was to examine two specific time frames - before and during the Covid-19 pandemic, 20 posts per company were analyzed – 10 per time period. Furthermore, the pandemic began in the month of March, 2020. Therefore, posts that were collected before the month of March, 2020 fall under the time frame before the Covid-19 Pandemic. Hence, the period during the pandemic was set to be from April, 2020 until the end of year 2021. All in all, the corpus was constructed by 50 social media posts before and 50 posts during the pandemic.

## 3.2 Data analysis

The data analysis process began with the process of coding the accumulated data. The data was coded by the researcher following the methods of open and axial coding. Moreover, when open coding is performed it enables the researcher to categorize the main occurring themes and concepts among the data. Furthermore, the second method of coding is called axial coding. Its' purpose is to further refine and categorize the themes that emerged through open coding (Williams & Moser, 2019). After all

necessary data was gathered in a written form it was transferred to the qualitative analysis software – Atlas.ti, where the coding process was performed.

Furthermore, the first step into analyzing the corpus was to perform segmenting in order to get an idea of the emerging themes in the available data. Additionally, at the first stage the researcher was taking notes on the already identified content tactics. By doing the segmenting, the researcher was able to clearly differentiate between the different tactics that each specific post contained. This approach to coding is called open coding and it was applied for this part of the research project. Moreover, the second step was to identify which objectives were implemented by the organizations in the social media posting. The content tactics are implemented to reach the specific objectives or goals by being included in the social media postings. Therefore, it can be concluded that each objective has the means to be fulfilled and that is through the particular content tactics that B2B organizations have incorporated in their posts. Additionally, after the open and axial coding was performed and all themes and tactics that were identified and were taken into consideration, a coding scheme was developed (see Table 1). Thereafter, to insure the validity of the coding scheme 10% of the data was coded with the initial coding scheme, first by the writer of this paper followed by a second researcher. Afterwards, both researchers came together and discussed the outcomes in order to compare and eliminate any big discrepancy between codes and sub-codes. All in all, after the adjustments of the coding scheme the inter-coder reliability was measured in the software Atlas.ti and the Krippendorff's Alpha resulted to be sufficient with the coefficient of 0.86.

## Coding scheme

This study applies a deductive approach by altering a coding scheme developed by Juntunen et al. (2021). In their research paper, the authors identify B2B social media content tactics and objectives that are most engaging for the user. The modified coding scheme identified the following main

categories: Brand Awareness, Interest, Knowledge and Trust, and Liking. They are specifically related to the objective of the post, meaning the main codes focus on the initial idea and motivation behind the written post. Furthermore, each main category was found to have a number of sub-codes that explain the tactic that was implemented in that particular post in order to fulfill its' objective. For example, the main code Brand Awareness contains four sub-codes – Information about Achievements,

News/Information, Working Environment, and Recruitment. With the main code which was related to the objective brand awareness, organizations aim at popularizing their brand and grabbing the attention of users with the purpose to find future clients. Additionally, the sub-code News/Information refers to general information or news surrounding the organization. The sub-category Working Environment is applied to segments that talk about the measures organizations take for the wellbeing and the environment in which their employees work. Last but not least, Recruitment is implemented in posts that are aimed at hiring new employees through advertisement of existing open positions at the organization. Additionally, examples with social media posts that were coded with the relevant main and sub-codes can be seen in Table A1 (see Appendix A).

**Table 1** *Coding Scheme* 

Main Code	Sub-code	Description
Brand Awareness	Information about achievements	Raising awareness towards the
		brand in order to become more
		visible and competitive
	News/Information	General news or information
		about the organization
	Working Environment	Information that is concerned
		with the working environment of
		employees
	Recruitment	Postings that aim at finding new
		employees
Interest	Linking	Letting the user know that there
		is more information available on
		the topic of interest
	Asking Questions	Asking questions throughout the
		posting
Knowledge and Trust	Advice	Sharing information with users
		with the purpose of giving them
		an advice on a certain topic
	Events	Communicating news about an
		upcoming event related to the
		industry
	Future Insights	Providing information and/or
		predictions on the future related
		to the industry
	Industry Topic	Communicating with users on
		relevant to the industry topics
	Product Info	Giving Information about a
		certain product/service the

		organization is providing
Liking	Appreciation	Thanking employees for certain
		achievements
	Exhibiting People	Sharing positive stories about
		people in the industry or
		employees
	Partnership	Letting the audience know about
		company partnerships

#### Results

## 4.1 Before the Covid-19 Pandemic

## Interest

In this research paper, posts that aim to grab the interest of the online public were coded with the main code *Interest*. For further information regarding the frequency of application concerning the main codes and the sub-codes see Table B1 and Table B2 (see Appendix B). The main code *Interest* refers to the objective depicted in the post, whereas the sub-codes *Linking* refers to the tactic implemented in order to fulfill the objective. Furthermore, the segments of data coded with the sub-code *Linking* are tactics which would wake the users' interest. Hence, during the analysis this content was depicted to be website URLs, hashtags, tagged companies and/or users. Before the Covid-19 pandemic, organizations included hashtags and website URLs in majority of their posts. The implemented hashtags were relevant to the general topic of the message and highlighted the main points of interest for the reader. Next to that, the URLs that organizations included most often were links to their company website or to other organizations within the same industry. However, in order to keep the anonymity of the sources, no specific examples for the depiction of website links and hashtags were given by the researcher. In addition, whenever there was more information available, call to action phrases were included in the posting e.g. "Read the full article here: URL"; "Learn more about how it

works here: URL"; "Information and tickets: URL". Lastly, the tagged or mentioned companies were partners of the organizations and the users were employees and other experts from the working sphere.

Moreover, the sub-code *Asking questions* was implemented five times before the Covid-19 pandemic. More specifically, it is depicted in the social media content as a direct way of communicating with the public. Hence, the segments of the data that contain a question towards the audience are coded with the sub-code *Asking questions*, for example the quote: "How does your company create an inclusive culture?" (2). Additionally, it became apparent that two of the organizations have incorporated this tactic more compared to the other companies. The questions were implemented either in the beginning or ending of the social media post and were, in most cases, accompanied by additional text and/or website link and hashtags, for example: "Happy Monday! How do you keep up with ecommerce and marketing news? We like everything from \*tagged company\* to newsletters form \*tagged company\* and podcasts like \*tagged company\*." (2).

As already mentioned in the data analysis section, both sub-codes *Linking* and *Asking questions* have been additionally coded in the cases where the post has already been assigned to a certain main code and sub-code. The logic behind is that in some cases lengthier posts that depict different general topics have the tendency to incorporate a mix of the objectives that are perceived through the post.

Thus, in many instances the longer posts incorporate a variety of tactics to fulfill the different objectives.

## **Knowledge and Trust**

With the main code *Knowledge and Trust* were coded posts that are aimed at educating the public on topics relevant to the organization and sphere, for example sharing news related to the industry, informing about upcoming events and company products.

Furthermore, the first most implemented sub-code was *Industry Topic* with the number of nine quotations. In most cases, posts where this sub-code was applied were concerned with an industry topic

and the organizations' opinion and approach towards this topic. This type of content can be depicted in social media posts as the following: "Almost ¾ of CMOs say their employees have a customer-first mindset. Learn how organizations empower this culture among their employees. CMOs need to champion an enterprise-wide customer-centric culture." (1). Additionally, some organizations specifically included an employee's name in the social media posting in order to establish them as an expert on the subject e.g.: "From niche skills to diverse talent—three trends worth paying attention to according to \*company name\*'s Chief Economist, \*employee name\*." (3).

Followed by it, the sub-codes *Events* and *Product Info* were used in seven and six quotations respectively. More specifically, when organizations were referring to future company events the sub-code *Events* was applied: "We are kicking the X event series in Europe with Moscow! → Join one of our local #DASEurope events to learn more on they key steps in the journey to Al." (1). Further, the length of the posts containing this content tactic varied depending on the amount of information regarding the event. Before the Covid-19 pandemic, organizations only mention the general topic of the event e.g. "\*company name\* is a proud sponsor of \*event name\* kickoff. Information and tickets..." (3). In addition, company 2 exclusively specified the speakers of the event: "Sign up to watch live as \*tagged user\* and \*tagged user\* review real merchant #ecommerce sites - you could even submit your site for free advice... (2).

The sub-code *Product Info* was applied to posts that contained information regarding the organizations' product and/or service. Concretely, there were messages containing general information on newly developed and released products and how they can be used: "#\*company product\* is everywhere and the use of multiple open source technologies by enterprises is on the rise in scope, complexity and maturity. Learn how to make the most of it..."(1). In addition, there were posts that focused on updates of already established products e.g.: "\*company name\* update! Clients can now

easily add, edit, and reorder upcoming milestones on active contracts. Learn more about how it works here:..." (3).

The sub-codes *Advice* and *Future Insights* were the least implemented from this main category with six and one quotations. Further, the sub-code *Advice* was implemented in posts that provided tips and helpful information concerning the industry and working sphere. Concretely, the advice that was given to the online public was concerned with the development of professional skills, for example: "...Here are tips for starting your freelance career on the right track from \*company name\* head freelancer and agency success, \*tagged user\* on BI Prime..." (3); "Retired FBI agent \*tagged user\* shared how crisis negotiation techniques can help you ask for (and get!) the raise you deserve." (4). Before the Covid-19 pandemic the sub-code *Future Insights* was implemented once. It was used where organizations were informing or making predictions about future developments in the business sphere, for example: "21 days until 2020! Prediction #2 of 5: outcomes will overshadow outputs of effort. Don't be surprised if you start getting measured on the impact you had and the problems you solved, not just the tasks you completed" (4).

## Liking

The third main code was called *Liking* with 13 codes before the Covid-19 pandemic. The major purpose of these posts was to make the organization more appealing to future customers and employees and to picture the organization as a collaborative institution.

Furthermore, the sub-code *Exhibiting People* was applied 5 times before the Covid-19 pandemic and it was assigned to posts communicating about employees' expertise and experience at the company. The following quotes provide an example of the respective tactics: "We are pleased to announce New York Times bestselling author, \*tagged user\*, has joined \*company name\* as vice president of customer insights. In this role, \*person's name\* will serve as an expert source for companies on the adoption of flexible talent solutions." (3); "...It has been almost 1.5 years with

\*company name\* and I'm doing the best work of my life. I work with cross-functional teams around the world and am learning new things every day..." (4). In addition, sharing information about employees' accomplishments was identified as one of the tactics implemented in posts before the Covid-19 pandemic, as it is depicted in the subsequent quote: "'I credit a large part of my success to online marketplaces..Read her #\*company name\* Success story on BI Prime..." (3).

The last two remaining sub-categories *Partnership* and *Appreciation* were both used four times before the Covid-19 pandemic. On one hand, the sub-code *Partnership* was applied to segments of posts in which organizations were communicating about collaborations with other companies. Furthermore, organizations were expressing feelings of excitement related to the partnership, for example in the quote: "We're excited to partner with \*other company name\* to provide customers with advanced data security capabilities through an integration..." (4). On the other hand, posts depicting celebration of employees were coded with *Appreciation*. The following quote provides an example of how the sub-code was implemented: "Happy #EmployeeAppreciationDay! A message from our CEO \*employee name\* to our incredible team" (2). Furthermore, organizations were expressing feelings of gratitude towards individuals who have participated in events organized by them: "...alongside a number of special guests including \*tagged users and the companies they work at... Thank you to everyone who attended for sharing insights and inspiring us." (3).

## **Brand Awareness**

Brand awareness is the fourth main code among the complete set of codes with the number of 13 quotations. Moreover, the main code Brand awareness was applied to posts that were aimed at making the brand more visible to prospective clients. Hence, the following social media post was coded with Brand awareness: "Today we're celebrating our iconic \*company product name\*. Introduced on X, it revolutionized the quality of written communication at home and in the office."

Additionally, the sub-codes *News/Information* and *Info about Achievements* were coded seven and four times respectively. The sub-code *News/Information* was applied to social media content that was informing the online audience of new company blog articles: "New on the blog: 15 action-packed ecommerce" (2). Moreover, organizatons were sharing messages related to company updates: "\*company name\* gathered this week for our 2020 Kickoff – a chance t learn from our clients and talent, as well as get inspired for an exciting year ahead." (3). Next to that, one post contained a message aimed at giving back to customers by gifting them company' merch: "As the year comes to a close, we want to take time to reflect and celebrate your accomplishments with a chance to take home some \*company name\* swag..." (3).

Furthermore, the sub-code *Info about Achievements* was implemented where organizations were sharing information related to their successfully implemented corporate social responsibility activities such as: "We're proud to be recognized as one of \*institution name\* 2020 World's Most Ethical Companies®." (1). Following, posts that were aimed at communicating about business achievements were coded with this sub-code, for example: "#\*company name\* has received a substantial investment from software investor #\*organization\* to capitalize on the growing #RegTech Challenge for the financial services services market." (5). Last but not least, the sub-code *Info about Achievements* was applied to posts that were informing about achievements in terms of acquiring new customers: "Welcome to \*company name\*, \*client name\*! We're excited to relaunch this iconic luxury fashion retailor's online presence." (2).

Both least implemented sub-codes *Recruitment* and *Working Environment* were coded one time. Moreover, the content that was aimed at recruiting employees was the following: "Want to join #LifeAt\*company name\*? Check out our open roles around the world" (2). Additionally, only two organizations have shared information regarding the environment in which employees work, hence the sub-code *Working Environment* was implemented in the following posting: "Hear co-founders \*@tagged

users\* share why they started a group to empower people of color and allies at \*company name\* and in the tech community." (2)

## 4.2 During the Covid-19 Pandemic

#### Interest

The main code *Interest* was applied to messages through which organizations aim to wake the interest of the reader and provide them with more information on the topic.

During the Covid-19 pandemic, the sub-code *Linking* was applied to segments of posts in which the organizations included a link to their website or to other companies in the industry, for example in posts related to partnership or advice. Additionally, from the hashtags that were implemented in posts during the pandemic, one stood out by being related to the Covid-19 topic. The other organizations that were tagged in the social media posts were working in the same industry and were providing specific information to the reader such as advice on personal development and acquisition of new skills.

The sub-code *Asking questions* was implemented five times during the Covid-19 pandemic. Within their posts, organizations were asking questions addressed to the reader such as: "Want to improve your productivity?..." (3); "Is there a way to predict new regulatory updates.?.." (5). Then they would provide more information helping the reader to answer the question – "...Check out these timesaving" (3);"...In next week's webinar, \*person name\* will answer this..." (5).

## **Knowledge and Trust**

With the main code *Knowledge and Trust* were coded posts that were aimed at educating the public on topics relevant to the organization and sphere e.g. "For offices to reopen when the time is right, employees must feel safe. Learn how our data-driven solutions can help..."

Furthermore, the first most implemented sub-code was *Events* with the number of nine quotations. In most cases, this sub-code was applied to posts that were communicating about upcoming

\*company name\* 's Visual Insights deep learning model for visual recognition with this \*company name\* vebinar." (1); "Last week's ESG webinar with \*other company\* Investments was a smash hit!

Did you miss it? View the recording here..." (5). During the Covid-19 pandemic, company 4 and company 5 have incorporated more information regarding the key discussion points of the event e.g. "Join our webinar, where we discuss how to implement \*company product\* with \*company name\* tools..., we explore the powerful capabilities of these tools and how they enable organizations to successfully scale \*company product\* principles and drive better business outcomes." (4); ".... Compliance: Beyond Ticking Boxes <<<URL >>> Join \*person name\*, as he covers: How to get a clear picture of your clients for KYC, how to conduct more accurate risk assessments, how to anticipate upcoming legislative changes..." (5). Additionally, Company 5 specified who are the speakers in the event: "On \*company name\* community conference focusing on #FIDLEG our CEO \*name\* will be presenting together with other experts and solution providers..." (5).

The second most applied sub-code during the Covid-19 pandemic was *Industry Topic*.

Organizations, most commonly, shared relevant information rearding the industry they work in. In the following post, company 2 has communicated a message related to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on consumer behaviour: "\*other company name\* found that #COVID19 is the top holiday shopping concern for 55% of consumers, and that 61% plan to do most shopping online. Why analysts are having a hard time predicting 2020 holiday sales:..." (2). A common practice for organizations during the pandemic was to incorporate an employees' name in the social media post in order to establish them as an expert on the subject, for example: "\*employee name\*, Global Head of Innovation Programs at \*company name\*, discusses our approach to innovation." (4).

Followed by it, the sub-codes *Advice* and *Future Insights* were both used in five quotations during the Covid-19 pandemic. More specifically, the sub-code *Advice* was applied in posts where

organizations were providing tips to the reader on how to acquire and develop new skills: "Being able to command a room, bring everyone's voice to the surface, and help your guests genuinely engage are essential skills for holding effective meetings. Read on for a few helpful meeting facilitation tips..." (4). Additionally, Company 3 has incorporated motivational aspects within this tactic. For example, the following post: "There is no better boost to productivity, creativity, and health than to take some time to recharge your energy and fuel your mind and body." had an image with an inspirational quote attached to it: "Rest when you're weary. Refresh and renew yourself, your body, your mind, your spirit. Then get back to work." (3).

During the Covid-19 pandemic, organizations shared content related to future insights on how the working processes will change after the pandemic. Hence, the sub-code *Future Insights* was applied to the following quotes: "For offices to reopen when the time is right, employees must feel safe. Learn how our data-driven..." (1); "With many employers considering a return to the workplace, \*company name\*'s Chief People Officer \*employee name\* has a message about RemoteWork and hybrid workplaces" (3); "Companies are kidding themselves if they think everyone is going back to the office... Hear on our approach to the future of work." (4).

The last sub-code in this category was *Product Info*, however during the Covid-19 pandemic organizations did not share content related to newly released products or updates on already existing products.

## Liking

The main code *Liking* was applied 15 times during the Covid-19 pandemic, meaning that organizations focused more on communicating messages that make the company more favorable to the reader by storytelling. Furthermore, company 1 has specifically communicated about workplace inclusivity and diversity by sharing a story about an employee of color: "Throughout his 22-year career with \*company name\*, \*employee name\* has worked with clients who've questioned his abilities due

to the color of his skin. Watch as the Columbus-based \*company name\* shares his story." (1). Hence, the sub-code *Exhibiting People* was applied to this post. Moreover, the sub-code was applied seven times in total during the Covid-19 pandemic. Additionally, Company 3 has shared a social media post that was celebrating the accomplishments of their employee: "Congratulations to \*company name\* CEO \*tagged user\* for being named to \*organization\*'s Top 100 Women Leaders in..." (3). Next to that, organizations shared stories about their employees' experience at the company, focusing on what they are working on: "As an FP&A Operations intern, I had the opportunity to partner with the R&D team to optimize" (4). Moreover, organizations were exclusively highlighting how their employees' work contributes to the organization: "One of our newest teammates to contribute is legal professional, and \*company name\* Legal & Compliance Manager, \*@person name\*... (5)".

The sub-code *Partnership* was used five times during the Covid-19 pandemic. Furthermore, when organizations were communicating about collaborations with other companies, it was mostly related to the development of new products and/or services: "We've partnered with \*other company name\* to help merchants connect" (2); "We partnered with \*tagged company\* to share the most effective ways to make your SMB holiday- ready! Download..." (2); "...The new partnership will strengthen \*other company name\*'s product offering while helping clients meet..." (5).

The last sub-code *Appreciation* was implemented three times during the Covid-19 pandemic. The posts that contain this sub-code were communicated by organizations with the aim of expressing gratitude towards their employees: "Thank you to the talented team and community members who hosted and attend our 50+ virtual events in Q2!..." (3); "...We're proud to have talented team members like you at \*company name\*, \*employee name\*! Thank you for all that you do." (3). Next to that, organizations were expressing appreciation towards other companies and representatives of the industry: "Thank you to the 800+ #\*other company name\*Partner companies from around the world" (2).

#### **Brand awareness**

The main code *Brand Awareness* is depicted in the social media posts as the general aim of the message was to bring more attention to the brand. Furthermore, it was the least applied main-code during the Covid-19 pandemic.

The sub-code *News/Information* was used in seven social media posts and the content that is depicted by information related to what the company is doing in general: "From reducing ocean plastic to minimizing lost parcels in the mail, our elite team of data scientists can help organizations tackle unfamiliar challenges." (1); "At \*company name\*, we don't just make software. We create the technology and services banks, asset managers, insurers, and funds rely on to remain compliant – no matter the regulatory change." (5). Subsequently,organizations showed transparency by communicating annual work reports: ""From the planet to people and everywhere in between, we aim to be sustainable in everything we do. Help hold us accountable. Take a look at our latest sustainability report and join our mission." (4). Similarly, the following quote shows that organizations shared with the online public their annual report by reflecting on the Covid-19 pandemic's influence on the work processes: "We doubled down on our values and beliefs, putting our teams and communities first, while answering challenges and opportunities presented by COVID-19. See our watershed moments in our 2nd Annual Impact Report." (3).

Next, the sub-code *Info about Achievements* was applied three times during the Covid-19 pandemic. Here organizations shared news about their achievements and Company 1 has written a post about one of their old and established product: "Today we're celebrating our iconic \*company product name\*. Introduced on \*date\*, it revolutionized the quality of written communication at home and in the office." (1). Additionally, information about successfully performed work in terms of providing a product and/or service to the customer was communicated by organizations, for example: "How \*tagged company\* pivoted to get their CBD site on an #ecommerce platform that worked..." (2). The

organizations were acknowledging achievements related to their growth, as one of them had shared news about company acquisition: "\*company name\* together with Software Investor \*other company name\* announces the 100% acquisition of \*other company name\*, a provider of financial and economic crime prevention solutions..." (5).

The third sub-code is *Recruitment* was implemented whenever organizations were providing information about their available job positions: "We, at \*company name\*, are currently searching for a Service Manager to join our Financial Engineering team!" (5). In some cases, the entire post was aimed at persuading the reader to apply for the job position and others were referring to it with one or two sentence in the full post.

The sub-code *Working Environment* was not applied in posts during the Covid-19 pandemic since none of them were communicating about the working conditions that the organizations provides to its' employees.

## 4.3 Summary of Results

To better discuss the results of this study, a summary of the relevant findings from the analysis was provided. To begin with, a change in B2B social media content tactics during the Covid-19 pandemic was found among the main codes *Knowledge and Trust, Brand Awareness, Interest*, and *Liking*.

Furthermore, the main code *Liking* was applied more frequently during the pandemic compared to before. The tactics which were affected by the Covid-19 pandemic were: *Industry Topic, Future Insights, Advice* and *News/Information*. The difference between both time periods was that the topic of Covid-19 had appeared within the implemented tactics, suggesting that B2B organizations communicated messages regarding the impact of the pandemic on the company and on the work industry. Moreover, the tactic of using hashtags in social media posts was affected by the Covid-19 pandemic since B2B organizations incorporated Covid-19 themed hashtags during that time period. Additionally, the tactic of

giving advice to the online public has shifted during the pandemic into spreading more motivational and inspiring content rather than providing straightforward tips. The sub-codes *Product Info* and *Working Environment* were not coded in segments of data in the time frame of the Covid-19 pandemic.

## Discussion

The objective of this research paper was to examine the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on social media content tactics of B2B brands, posing the following research question: "How has the Covid-19 pandemic influenced social media content tactics on LinkedIn of B2B organizations?". To further support the answering of the main research question a sub-question was introduced: "What content tactics B2B brands implemented before the Covid-19 pandemic?". This study is based on expectations formulated on grounds of existing literature providing information on changes in social media content during the Covid-19 pandemic. The results served to answer the sub-question and the expectations, which will now be closely elaborated on.

The sub-question regards the use of B2B social media content tactics before the Covid-19 pandemic. The results from this study show that before the Covid-19 pandemic, B2B organizations incorporated a variety of tactics within their posts aimed at creating a message that will fulfill its' main objective. Furthermore, in the context of this study, the most prominent B2B content objectives were: *knowledge and trust, brand awareness, interest* and *liking*. Therefore, these findings can be supported with research performed by Juntunen at al. (2020) that makes a clear distinction of B2B social media content objectives. In general, B2B organizations use tactics such as implementing hashtags, company URL and mentioning people or employees in order to fulfill the objective *interest* (Swani et al., 2014). Hence, in the context of this study, B2B organizations were utilizing these tactics by adding hashtags related to the topic of the post and provided the reader with links to company' or partners' websites.

Additionally, the tactic of tagging users in B2B social media posts was commonly applied in combination with tactics related to the objectives *of knowledge and trust*, and *liking*.

Moreover, the results from this research paper show that the objective of spreading valuable information related to the industry and its' respective tactics are in accordance with previously identified B2B content tactics by Leek et al. (2016) such as: sharing information about current or future developments in the industry and events. According to Hanssens and Weitz (1980) product information is a tactics that is applied for the execution of the objective *awareness*. However, it can be argued that this content tactic can be used in posts depicting the objective *knowledge and trust* since it can be interpreted as a company development (Bolat et al., 2016).

Next to that, the objective *awareness* was aimed at communicating messages about the brand, hence making the reader aware of the organization and its' activities (Andersson & Wikström, 2017). The identified respective tactic of incorporating company name and logo within the social media post can be supported by existing research on the topic (Juntunen et al., 2021). Interestingly, one of the organizations has shared a post that incorporated a tactic of giving away company merchandise to the online public, which according to Peattie (1999) is generally a promotional technique used in social marketing campaigns. Additionally, Cutler and Javalgi (1994) support the finding that B2B organizations apply the tactic of communicating news and information about their brand. Furthermore, literature on the topic of corporate communication suggests that organizations disseminate messages on company achievements, more specifically, related to their corporate social responsibility activities (Falchi et al., 2022). The previous statement supports the findings of this study that B2B organizations shared information regarding their successfully implemented CSR initiatives in terms of employee wellbeing and environmental impact. Moreover, a study examining the communication of corporate image through job advertisement on LinkedIn shows that organizations use the recruitment of employees as a way to boost

their brand visibility (Coelho et al., 2022). Therefore, the results showing that B2B organizations communicated messages with the purpose to find new employees were supported by existing literature.

According to Cutler and Javalgi (1994) storytelling is a tactics that organizations apply in social media messages to advocate positive feelings among the online public. In accordance, this study revealed that B2B organizations implemented storytelling in posts that were depicting information about employees, expressing gratitude towards them and sharing excitement about company partnerships.

#### 5.1 Main findings

This main research question regards how B2B social media content tactics were influenced by the Covid-19 pandemic. From the performed analysis it can be concluded that the following B2B social media content tactics changed during the Covid-19 pandemic: sharing information regarding the future of the company and work industry, giving advice to the online public, and hashtags. Additionally, the results show that Covid-19 pandemic did have an influence on the main objective communicated by B2B organizations regarding the dissemination of positive and emotional content.

To begin with, the objective *liking* was depicted to be more prominent during the Covid-19 pandemic compared to before. This can be further explained with the research conducted by Azer et al. (2021) examining the types of social media content and the feelings that it facilitates among users during a crisis. There Azer et al. (2021) highlight the importance of spreading positive and calming feelings in order to enhance the perceived favorability and credibility of the organization. The tactic of storytelling remained the same during the Covid-19 pandemic; however, the content of messages communication about company partnership changed.

Further findings from the study show that B2B organizations incorporated inspirational motives among their tactic of giving advice through their social media postings during the Covid-19 pandemic. To support the results from this study, Dale et al. (2017) found that inspirational content predominantly

focused on the topic of overcoming existing obstacles and featured feelings of hope and support.

Additionally, Azer et al. (2021) highlight the importance of communicating messages that provoke feelings of hope since during a crisis the online public is more likely to engage with this type of content.

This study found that the topic of Covid-19 has been depicted in tactics of implementing hashtags and sharing news related to the company and the industry in general. Hence, the expectation that B2B organizations will share more information regarding the influence of the pandemic on the organization and work industry was met. The assumption was based on the findings from Azer et al. (2021) that user engagement on social media during the Covid-19 pandemic was highly perceived among posts spreading information regarding the impact of the crisis.

According to Tosun (2022), organizations should focus on communicating product information more during the Covid-19 pandemic. However, the findings from this study do not support the assumption that B2B organizations will share more product related messages. The reason can be that according to Tosun (2022) informational content is preferred by social media users to promotional type of messages, especially during a crisis. In like manner, the statement from De Vlack (2020) that, organizations should not engage in branding activities and content during critical times, since it can be perceived as improper.

### 5.2 Strengths, limitations and future research

The main theoretical strength of this study is that it is one of the first to examine the impact of the pandemic specifically on B2B organizations and the content tactics they implemented in social media posts. Generally, existing literature was concerned with analyzing how social media can benefit organizations during the Covid-19 pandemic. Additionally, scholars have previously analyzed social media content of organizations during the Covid-19 pandemic in terms of what messages achieved higher user engagement and what topics were most frequently touched upon. Hence, more work is

needed in order to explore how Covid-19 pandemic affected the use of social media communication tactics.

As with most studies, this study has a few limitations and areas of improvement; however, they can serve as a basis for future research possibilities. To begin with, the fact that there was very limited amount of literature that provides insight on how the Covid-19 pandemic has influenced social media marketing in terms of specific content tactics was one of the main limitations for this study. Therefore, it was difficult to formulate specific expectations that will be supported with the results from the performed analysis. Furthermore, this research was limited to analyzing the content tactics of only five B2B organizations. Hence, a wider variety of posts and tactics can be identified and interpreted if more organizations were included in the analysis. For example, in their research paper Juntunen et al. (2020) distinguish B2B social media content objectives and tactics, where the analysis was performed on 10 B2B organizations.

Next to that, this study identified the general social media objectives and tactics implemented by B2B organizations before and during the Covid-19. However, a proposition for relevant future research is to apply a combination of quantitative and qualitative research methods to analyze the frequency and reason for use of specific words incorporated in their social media communication. Furthermore, by providing more definitive outcomes it could be argued whether some words are more successful at delivering a certain message thus making it more engaging for the online public.

#### Conclusion

The study aimed to explore how B2B social media content tactics were influenced by the Covid-19 pandemic. It begins by explaining the relevance of social media marketing implementation within the working processes of B2B organizations. By reviewing existing literature, it was found that the Covid-19 pandemic had an influence on the social media messages that were communicated by organizations. Furthermore, studies show that posts provoking positive feelings are better perceived by the user during a crisis. Hence, it was expected for B2B organizations to include more emotional content. Next, it was anticipated that during the pandemic topics related to the Covid-19 pandemic will be depicted in B2B social media communication. Lastly, it was expected that B2B organizations will share product related information during the Covid-19 pandemic.

After the data analysis was performed, the results showed that there has been a change in B2B content tactics during the Covid-19 pandemic. The objective of being perceived as more favorable was recognized to be more frequently applied during the Covid-19 pandemic; however, the tactic of storytelling remained unchanged. The tactics of informing the online public about future or current developments within the industry and the company were concerned with topics related to the Covid-19 pandemic. Additionally, the tactic of implementing hashtags within the social media posts was affected by Covid-19 related themes. Moreover, the tactic of giving advice was found to incorporate inspirational and motivational aspects that evoke a feeling of hope. However, the number of sources examining the social media content of organizations during the Covid-19 was very limited. Furthermore, the majority of the available academic sources were concerned with users' perception and engagement. Thus, future research into the topic will be beneficial, where a mix of quantitative and qualitative methods will be applied to provide an in-depth analysis of the frequencies of the implemented tactics and the use of specific words.

To conclude, this study was the first to examine how B2B social media tactics were influenced by the Covid-19 pandemic. It provides a good base for further research into the topic since the use of social media platforms provides a variety of benefits when implemented in the working process of B2B organizations. Marketing specialists in the B2B sphere will be able to build effective social media strategies during crises, thus eliminating the negative impact. Therefore, it is important to continue research in this field to help B2B organizations in the process of disseminating messages on social media during a crisis.

### References:

- Agnihotri, R., Dingus, R., Hu, M. Y., & Krush, M. T. (2016). Social media: Influencing customer satisfaction in B2B sales. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *53*, 172–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.09.003
- Agnihotri, R. (2020). Social media, customer engagement, and sales organizations: A research agenda. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 90, 291-299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.07.017
- Alalwan, A. A., Rana, N. P., Dwivedi, Y. K., & Algharabat, R. (2017). Social media in marketing: A review and analysis of the existing literature. *Telematics and Informatics*, 34(7), 1177–1190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2017.05.008
- Altshuler, L. & Tarnovskaya, V.V. (2010). Branding capability of technology born globals". *Journal of Brand Management*, 18, 212-227.
- Ancillai, C., Terho, H., Cardinali, S., & Pascucci, F. (2019). Advancing social media driven sales research: Establishing conceptual foundations for B-to-B social selling. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 82, 293–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2019.01.002
- Andersson, S., & Wikström, N. (2017). Why and how are social media used in a B2B context, and which stakeholders are involved? *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 32(8), 1098–1108. https://doi.org/10.1108/jbim-07-2016-0148
- Asipi, V., & Duraković, B. (2020). Performance analysis of B2B and B2C companies in Northern Macedonia and Serbia. *Heritage and Sustainable Development*, 2(2), 89–99. https://doi.org/10.37868/hsd.v2i2.29
- Azer, J., Blasco-Arcas, L., & Harrigan, P. (2021). #COVID-19: Forms and drivers of social media users' engagement behavior toward a global crisis. *Journal of Business Research*, 135, 99–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.06.030

- Bages-Amat, A., Harrison, L., Spillecke, D., & Stanley, J. (2021, March 31). These eight charts show how COVID-19 has changed B2B sales forever. McKinsey & Company. https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/growth-marketing-and-sales/our-insights/these-eight-charts-show-how-covid-19-has-changed-b2b-sales-forever
- Barry, J.M., & Gironda, J.T. (2017). Operationalizing thought leadership for online B2B marketing. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 1-22.
- Bendixen, M., Bukasa, K. A., & Abratt, R. (2004). Brand equity in the business-to-business market. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *33*(5), 371–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2003.10.001
- Bodnar, K., & Cohen, J. L. (2011). The B2B social media book: Become a marketing superstar by generating leads with blogging, LinkedIn, Twitter, Facebook, email, and more (1st ed.) [E-book]. Wiley. Retrieved by Google Scholar https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as\_sdt=0%2C5&q=Bodnar%2C+K.%2C+%26+Cohen%2C+J.+L.+%282011%29&btnG=
- Bolat, E., Kooli, K., & Wright, L. T. (2016). Businesses and mobile social media capability.

  \*\*Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing, 31(8), 971–981.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1108/jbim-10-2016-270
- Cawsey, T., & Rowley, J. (2016). Social media brand building strategies in B2B companies.

  Marketing Intelligence & Planning, 34(6), 754–776. https://doi.org/10.1108/mip-04-2015-0079
- Coelho, M. P., Cesário, F., Sabino, A., & Moreira, A. (2022). Pro-environmental messages in job advertisements and the intentions to apply—the mediating role of organizational attractiveness. *Sustainability*, *14*(5), 3014. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14053014

- Cortez, R. M., & Dastidar, A. G. (2022). A longitudinal study of B2B customer engagement in LinkedIn: The role of brand personality. *Journal of Business Research*, *145*, 92–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2022.02.086
- Cutler, B. D., & Javalgi, R. G. (1994). Comparison of business-to-business advertising.

  Industrial Marketing Management, 23(2), 117–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/0019-8501(94)90012-4
- Edelman. (September, 2020). How B2B companies are adapting customer engagement strategies during Covid. Edelman. https://www.edelman.com/expertise/business-marketing/how-b2b-companies-are-adapting-covid
- Diba, H., Vella, J. M., & Abratt, R. (2019). Social media influence on the B2B buying process.

  \*\*Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing, 34(7), 1482–1496.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1108/jbim-12-2018-0403
- De Valck, K. (2020). What is the role of social media during the COVID-19 Crisis? https://www.hec.edu/en/knowledge/instants/what-role-social-med ia-during-covid-19-crisis-0.
- Dwivedi, Y. K., Ismagilova, E., Rana, N. P., & Raman, R. (2021). Social media adoption, usage and impact in business-to-business (B2B) context: A state-of-the-art literature review.

  \*Information Systems Frontiers\*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10796-021-10106-y
- Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62(1), 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x
- Falchi, A., Grolleau, G., & Mzoughi, N. (2022). Why companies might under-communicate their efforts for sustainable development and what can be done? *Business Strategy and the Environment*. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2991

- Glover, D. R., Hartley, S. W., & Patti, C. H. (1989). How advertising message strategies are set.

  \*Industrial Marketing Management, 18(1), 19–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/0019-8501(89)90017-5
- Hanssens, D. M., & Weitz, B. A. (1980). The effectiveness of industrial print advertisements across product categories. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 17(3), 294. https://doi.org/10.2307/3150527
- Hollebeek, L. D. (2019). Developing business customer engagement through social media engagement-platforms: An integrative S-D logic/RBV-informed model. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 81, 89–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.11.016
- Holliman, G., & Rowley, J. (2014). Business to business digital content marketing: marketers' perceptions of best practice. *Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing*, 8(4), 269–293. https://doi.org/10.1108/jrim-02-2014-0013
- Hsiao, S. H., Wang, Y. Y., Wang, T., & Kao, T. W. (2020). How social media shapes the fashion industry: The spillover effects between private labels and national brands. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 86, 40–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2019.02.022
- Huotari, L., Ulkuniemi, P., Saraniemi, S., & Mäläskä, M. (2015). Analysis of content creation in social media by B2B companies. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, *30*(6), 761–770. https://doi.org/10.1108/jbim-05-2013-0118
- Ismagilova, E., Dwivedi, Y. K., Slade, E., & Williams, M. D. (2017). Electronic Word of Mouth (eWOM) in the Marketing Context. *SpringerBriefs in Business*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-52459-7
- Itani, O. S., Agnihotri, R., & Dingus, R. (2017). Social media use in B2b sales and its impact on competitive intelligence collection and adaptive selling: Examining the role of learning

- orientation as an enabler. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 66, 64–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.06.012
- Jackson, D. (2018). How to create a B2B social media strategy.

  https://sproutsocial.com/insights/b2b-social-media-strategy/
- Juntunen, M., Ismagilova, E., & Oikarinen, E. L. (2020). B2B brands on Twitter: Engaging users with a varying combination of social media content objectives, strategies, and tactics. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 89, 630–641.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2019.03.001
- Kho, N. D. (2008). B2B gets social media. *EContent (Wilton, Conn.)*, 31(3), 26-30.
- Kotler, P., & Pfoertsch, W. (2006). B2B Brand Management (2006th ed.). Springer.
- Kwok, L., Lee, J., & Han, S. H. (2021). Crisis communication on social media: What types of COVID-19 messages get the attention? *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 193896552110281. https://doi.org/10.1177/19389655211028143
- Lavidge, R. J., & Steiner, G. A. (1961). A model for predictive measurements of advertising effectiveness. *Journal of Marketing*, 25(6), 59. https://doi.org/10.2307/1248516
- Leek, S., Canning, L., & Houghton, D. (2016). Revisiting the task media fit model in the era of Web 2.0: Twitter use and interaction in the healthcare sector. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *54*, 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.12.007
- Mason, A., Narcum, J., & Mason, K. (2020). Changes in consumer decision-making resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Customer Behaviour*. https://doi.org/10.1362/147539220x16003502334181

- Mason, A. N., Narcum, J., & Mason, K. (2021). Social media marketing gains importance after Covid-19. *Cogent Business & Management*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2020.1870797
- Mitroff, I. I., Alpaslan, M. C., & Green, S. E. (2004). Crises as ill-structured messes. *International Studies Review*, 6(1), 165–194. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1521-9488.2004.393\_3.x
- Moore, J. N., Hopkins, C. D., & Raymond, M. A. (2013). Utilization of relationship-oriented social media in the selling process: A comparison of consumer (B2C) and industrial (B2B) salespeople. *Journal of Internet Commerce*, *12*(1), 48–75. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332861.2013.763694
- Moorman, C. (2020, March 30). Making the most of your marketing team during Covid-19.

  Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/christinemoorman/2020/03/30/making-the-most-of-your-marketing-team-during-covid-19/#3572a1ee2321
- Nunan, D., Sibai, O., Schivinski, B., & Christodoulides, G. (2018). Reflections on "social media: Influencing customer satisfaction in B2B sales" and a research agenda. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 75, 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2018.03.009
- Obar, J. A., & Wildman, S. S. (2015). Social media definition and the governance challenge: An introduction to the special issue. *Telecommunications Policy*, 39(9), 745-750.
- Ogilvie, J., Agnihotri, R., Rapp, A., & Trainor, K. (2018). Social media technology use and salesperson performance: A two study examination of the role of salesperson behaviors, characteristics, and training. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 75, 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2018.03.007

- Rangarajan, D., Sharma, A., Lyngdoh, T., & Paesbrugghe, B. (2021). Business-to-business selling in the post-COVID-19 era: Developing an adaptive sales force. *Business Horizons*, 64(5), 647–658. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2021.02.030
- Salo, J. (2017). Social media research in the industrial marketing field: Review of literature and future research directions. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 66, 115–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.07.013
- Siamagka, N. T., Christodoulides, G., Michaelidou, N., & Valvi, A. (2015b). Determinants of social media adoption by B2B organizations. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *51*, 89–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.05.005
- Swani, K., Brown, B. P., & Milne, G. R. (2014). Should tweets differ for B2B and B2C? An analysis of Fortune 500 companies' Twitter communications. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 43(5), 873–881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2014.04.012
- Turley, L. W., & Kelley, S. W. (1997). A comparison of advertising content: Business to business versus consumer services. *Journal of Advertising*, 26(4), 39–48. https://doi.org/10.1080/00913367.1997.10673534
- Vasudevan, S. & Kumar, P. F. (2018). Social media and B2b brands: An Indian perspective, *International Journal of Mechanical Engineering and Technology (IJMET)*, 9(9), 767-775. http://www.iaeme.com/ijmet/issues.asp?JType=IJMET&VType=9&IType=9
- Wijaya, S. B. (2012). The development of hierarchy of effects model in advertising.

  \*International Research Journal of Business Studies, 5(1), 73–85.

  https://doi.org/10.21632/irjbs.5.1.73-85
- Williams, M. & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, 15(1), 45-55.

# Appendix A

**Table A1**Coding Scheme with Examples

Main Code	Description	Sub-code	Example
Brand Awareness	Raising awareness towards	Information about	"Today we're
	the brand in order to	achievements	celebrating our iconic
	become more visible and		Selectric typewriter.
	competitive		Introduced on July 31 <sup>st</sup> ,
			1961, it revolutionized
			the quality of written
			communication at home
			and in the office."
	General news or	News/Information	"We like everything
	information about the		from *tagged company*
	organization		to newsletters form
			*tagged company* and
			podcasts like *tagged
			company*."
	Information that is	Working Environment	"Meet #BCinColor, our
	concerned with the		newest employee
	working environment of		resource group! Hear co-
	employees		founders *@tagged
			users* share why they
			started a group to
			empower people of color
			and allies at *company
			name* and in the tech
			community."

	Postings that aim at finding	Recruitment	"*company name* is	
	new employees		seeking a highly	
			motivated individual to	
			join our team as	
			Director, Payment	
			Channel Sales.  Apply or tag a candidate  you think would love to  join #Lifeat*company	
			name*:"	
Interest	Letting the user know that	Linking	Hashtag, Link to	
	there is more information		company website	
	available on the topic of		e.g. "Learn more here"	
	interest			
	Asking questions	Asking Questions	"Will you be shopping	
	throughout the posting		for Cyber Monday deals	
			today?"	
Knowledge and Trust	Sharing information with	Advice	"Check out these time-	
	users with the purpose of		saving tips from the pro	
	giving them an advice on a		talent at *company	
	certain topic		name*."	
	Communicating news	Events	"Join our webinar,	
	about an upcoming event		where we discuss how to	
	related to the industry		implement *company	
			product* with	
			*company name* tools-	
			no matter where you are	
			at in your Agile	
			journey"	
	Providing information	Future Insights	"For offices to reopen	
	and/or predictions on the		when the time is right,	

	future related to the		employees must feel
	industry		safe. Learn how our
			data-driven solutions
			can help:"
	Communicating with users	Industry Topic	"One year has passed
	on relevant to the industry		since the enforcement of
	topics		the #PRIIP KID
			regulation. The
			regulator requirements
			to the PRIIP
			manufacturers"
	Giving Information about a	Product Info	"Agencies on *company
	certain product/service the		name*: If you have a
	organization is providing		Plus account, you can
			now create a custom
			URL for your agency
			profile."
Liking	Thanking employees for	Appreciation	"Thank you to everyone
	certain achievements		who attended for
			sharing insights and
			inspiring us."
	Sharing positive stories	Exhibiting People	"Congratulations to
	about people in the		*company name* CEO
	industry or employees		*tagged user* for being
			named to
			*organization*'s Top
			100 Women Leaders in
			Technology of 2021"
	Letting the audience know	Partnership	"We're excited to
	about company		partner with *other
	partnerships		company name* to

provide customers with
advanced data security
capabilities through an
integration between
\*company product\* and
\*other company
product\*."

# Appendix B

**Table B1**Number of Main Codes Applied Before and During the Covid-19 Pandemic

Main Code Name	Before Pandemic	During Pandemic
Interest	45	43
Knowledge and Trust	27	27
Liking	13	15
Brand Awareness	13	13

**Table B2**Number of Sub-codes Applied Before and During the Covid-19 Pandemic

Sub-code Name	Before Pandemic	During Pandemic
Asking Questions	5	5
Events	7	9
Advice	4	5
Industry Topic	9	8
Future Insights	1	5
Product Info	6	0
News/Information	7	7
Info about Achievements	4	3
Recruitment	1	3
Working Environment	1	0
Exhibiting People	5	7
Appreciation	4	3
Partnership	4	5